1	$\mathbf{F}$	Ι	L	E	D
					-		SID	Ĵ. Mà	HITE	
							NOV	25	1996	
					(	CLERK Bv	(, ទបក្		AE CC	JURT
IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA		Shief D	epoty	<b>Gier</b> X	

LEROY POOLER

SUPREME COURT NO. 87,771

Appellant,

CIRCUIT NO.95-1117 CF A02

v.

1

•

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

1

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael D. Lebedeker, Esq. Florida Bar No. 351288 711 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (407) 832-5661 Facsimile: (407) 832-4766

Counsel for Appellant

####

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant was the defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Palm Beach County, Florida. In this Brief the parties will be referred to by name or as Appellant and Appellee.

The following symbols will be used:

The symbol "R" will denote the record on appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote the court reporter's transcript.

## **BTATEMENT OF TEE CASE**

The Appellant, LEROY POOLER, was charged by indictment on February 13, 1995, with first degree murder with a firearm, burglary of a dwelling while armed with a firearm, and attempted first degree murder with a firearm (R 42-43). Jury selection began on January 9, 1996 (T 265) and the jury was sworn on January 11, 1996

(T 758). Pretrial instructions were given by the court and testimony began the same date (T 766-792). At the close of the State's case the Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal (T 1146-1147). That Motion was denied (T 1148-1149) and Appellant announced that he did not intend to call any witnesses (T 1149). Appellant was found guilty on January 17, 1996 of first degree murder with a firearm as charged in Count I of the Indictment, burglary of a dwelling with a firearm as charged in Count II of the Indictment as charged in Count III of the Indictment (T 1321).

The penalty phase began on February 7, 1996 (T 1362). On February 8, 1996, the jury, by a vote of nine to three, advised and recommended to the court that it impose the death penalty upon Leroy Pooler (T 1630). At the close of the allocution hearing on February 23, 1996, the court indicated that it was going to exceed the guideline sentences as to Count II and Count III (T 1691) and the court did sentence Appellant to life imprisonment with a

mandatory three year minimum, concurrent on each Count **and** concurrent with whatever sentence the Court would subsequently impose in regard to Count I (T 1691). On March 29, 1996, the trial judge sentenced Leroy Pooler to death for the first degree murder of Kim Wright Brown (T 1700).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on April 16, 1996 (R 792). Leroy Pooler is 48 years old (R 35).

## BTATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## GUILT PHASE

Alvonza Colson, 18 year old 11th grade high school student, was the State's first witness (T 792). Mr. Colson is the brother of the victim in this case, Kim Wright Brown (T 793). Mr. Colson testified that he had known Appellant, Leroy Pooler for approximately a year during which time Mr. Pooler was dating Kim Wright Brown (T 793).

Alvonza Colson testified that on January 30, 1995, he was in bed when his sister Kim responded to a knock at the front door at approximately 8:00 a.m.(T 794). Appellant was at the door (T 794). Mr. Colson stated that Kim Brown told Appellant "Leroy, I don't want you no more." (T 794) At that point Appellant asked to come in and Mr. Colson opened the door approximately half way (T 794). Appellant pleaded with Mr. Colson: "Alvonza, can I please talk to Kim? Can I please talk to Kim?" and Alvonza replied that he could not. According to Mr. Colson Appellant offered to let Mr. Colson try his car, would help Mr.Colson with his car and again asked if he could please talk to Kim. Mr. Colson once again responded that he could not (T 795).

At that point, according to Alvonza Colson, Appellant pulled a gun from his pants and Mr. Colson let go of the door and attempted to run (T 795). Mr. Colson testified that Appellant then shot him in the back (T 795).

Mr. Colson testified that after he was shot by the Appellant

Appellant was pulling on his leg while Mr. Colson was trying to get away (T 795). Mr. Colson stood up in the hallway of the home and Ms. Brown, asked Appellant not to kill her and her brother. Mr. Colson stated that his sister Kim suggested that they take Mr. Colson to the hospital, to which the Appellant replied **"Okay"** (T 796). Mr. Colson did not want to go with Appellant (T 796).

According to Mr. Colson the Appellant then told him to stay and call the ambulance and Appellant asked his sister to go with him (T 797). As Appellant walked out the front door ahead of Mr. Colson and his sister, Alvonza and Kim slammed and locked the door (T 797). Alvonza testified he then told his sister to run out the back door and that he (Alvonza) would stay and call an ambulance (T 797). When he attempted to use the telephone to call for an ambulance and the police, Mr. Colson stated that the phone wires had been cut (T 797).

Mr. Colson testified he next heard glass break and he saw Appellant sticking his hand through the door, unlocking the front door (T 797). Mr. Colson testified that he then ran to his next door neighbor's back porch where he hid behind a wall (T 798). Mr. Colson heard the back door to his residence shut and then he was approached by Appellant who "never mind me" (T 798). Mr. Colson stated that he heard his sister calling for help (T 798) and that Appellant went to the next building, approximately 10 feet away, to try to catch up with Kim Brown (T 799). Mr. Colson heard a gunshot at that point, looked to see his sister, and saw Appellant "pulling" his sister (T 799). Mr. Colson testified that

he next heard some gunshots (T 799), then ran in his back door, shut and locked the back door (T 799), went out the front door, locking the front door with his key, and went to the next door neighbor's house (T 800).

Mr. Colson testified that he next ran to a gym across the street from his house where he asked a man to call the police and an ambulance (T 800). Mr. Colson was subsequently taken to St. Mary's Medical Center (T 801).

On cross examination Appellant's counsel elicited some inconsistent statements from Mr. Colson (T 804-809) regarding whether or not he had told the police prior to his trial testimony that he had or had not seen Appellant shoot his sister. Finally, Mr. Colson testified that he did not in fact see Appellant shoot his sister but that he had seen Appellant reloading a gun so he "assumed he had shot my sister" (T 809). Mr. Colson reiterated that he did not see Mr. Pooler actually shoot his sister (T 809). Alvonza Colson again testified on cross examination that he had heard gunshots and had "assumed" that Appellant had shot Kim Brown because he saw Appellant reloading the gun (T 812). Mr. Colson further testified on cross examination that he did not see Appellant cut the telephone wire (T 816) as had been alluded to Appellant's counsel on cross examination, further previously. elicited inconsistent statements from Mr. Colson viz-a-viz previous statements made to investigating police officers (T 819). Mr. Colson testified that after he and his sister had locked Appellant out of the house, while his sister was getting ready to flee, he

heard banging and glass breaking next to the front door (T 822-824). Mr. Colson saw a hand come through the glass but he did not actually see how the glass was broken (T 824-825).

W.C. Burgess was sitting in his car early the morning of January 30, 1995, (T 838) when he saw Kim Wright Brown, who he had known for approximately 6 years (T 838). Mr. Burgess had left his home, stopped by a store where he purchased a beer and a pack of cigarettes, when he was stopped by Appellant who **asked** him if he had seen his "sister" (T 839). Mr. Burgess told Appellant that he had not (T 839-840). Mr. Burgess got into a car with some friends and they were all sitting drinking some wine when he observed Kim Brown come running from upstairs of her residence, and Appellant came out the back door behind her (T 840). Mr. Burgess testified that he observed Kim Brown run to the next building asking people to open the door to let her in (T 841). Mr. Burgess stated that he saw Appellant grabbing and pulling Kim Brown trying to get her into a car when his gun went off (T 841). After the qunshot Mr. Burgess stated that he saw Appellant continue to pull the victim telling her "Bitch, didn't I tell you I kill you?", after which Appellant "put the gun to her and pop it to her" (T 842). Mr. Burgess testified that he saw Appellant shoot Kim Wright Brown (T 843). He was unable to state how many times Appellant shot Kim Brown because there was confusion with people ducking and trying to leave (T 843). After that Mr. Burgess left the scene in the car he was sitting in but returned shortly when an ambulance and police had arrived (T 843).

At this point in the proceedings Appellant's counsel formerly invoked "The Rule" (T 846).

Mr. Burgess identified a photograph of the deceased, Ms. Brown. On cross examination Mr. Burgess testified that he knew that Appellant was "going out with Kim" and that "everybody" knew that they were "messing around together" (T 866-867). Mr. Burgess did not contact the police relative to this incident for a week or possibly three or four days (T 875).

Ruby Thomas had lived near the home of Kim Brown for approximately nine years and had known Kim Brown since she was a little girl (T 879). On January 30, 1995, Ruby Thomas was awakened by a grandchild who told her that she had heard shots (T 880). Ms. Thomas looked out of her house and heard approximately six gun shots (T 880-881). Ms. Thomas testified that when she looked out of her window she saw Appellant shooting Kim Brown (T 881). Ms. Thomas identified Appellant in court, (T 882) as had previous witnesses. Ms. Thomas testified that Appellant was close to Kim Brown when he shot her (T 882).

During cross examination Appellant's counsel questioned Ms. Thomas regarding an unfortunate incident in which her daughter had been killed. Ms. Thomas did not want to discuss that matter but the Court instructed her to answer the questions (T 900-901). Ms. Thomas did not want to discuss the matter of her daughter's death or of the fact that the perpetrator of that crime was released from prison after twelve years (T 901-904). Ruby Thomas did testify on cross examination that she did not see Appellant chase Kim Brown

(T 904). On re-direct examination Ruby Thomas in response to the State's question as to whether she had actually seen Appellant pulling the trigger and shooting Kim Brown "through the window" replied "yes" (T 905). It is unclear from this questioning whether Ruby Thomas had seen Appellant shooting Ms. Brown through a window or whether Ms. Thomas had been looking through a window and observed the Appellant shoot the victim.

2

Charlie Ware was familiar with the apartment complex where Kim Brown lived and he knew her since she had been about eight or nine years old (T 907-908). Mr. Ware testified that he was sitting in his car when he observed Kim Brown run down the sidewalk with Appellant behind her (T 909). Mr. Ware thought that Appellant was Kim Brown's boyfriend (T 909). When asked to identify Appellant in Court Mr. Ware stated "no, no, I don't see nobody." (T 909) Mr. Ware testified that he knew Appellant for a little more than a year and had seen him several times at Ms. Brown's apartment complex (T Mr. Ware testified that he observed Appellant hit Ms. 909). Brown "upside the head" with the gun and that the gun went off, following which Appellant "took her down" and tried to get her in the car but was unable to do so (T 910). Mr. Ware then stated that he observed Appellant hit Ms. Brown, shoot her in the head and then shoot her several more times after which he got into the car and drove off (T 910).

Following this testimony the Prosecutor asked Mr. Ware to once again "look all over the courtroom" to see if he could see the man he referred to as Appellant (T 912). Appellant's counsel and the

Prosecutor were permitted to approach the bench at which time Appellant's counsel, Mr. Salnick, informed the court that he had observed witnesses in the back of the courtroom who were pointing toward Mr. Pooler, specifically the witness, Ruby Thomas. Mr. Salnick informed the court that Ms. Thomas was "surprised that I caught her" and pretended to be scratching herself. The court asked "what do you want me to do about that?" Mr. Salnick replied that he did not know but that "they" were communicating with Mr. Ware in an effort to help him identify Mr. Pooler (T 912-913). After this exchange Mr. Ware left the witness stand and was able to identify Appellant.

On cross examination **Mr. Salnick** asked Mr. Ware whether he was able to see Ms. Thomas point in Mr. **Pooler's** direction (T 914). The State objected and court overruled that objection (T 914-915). Mr. Ware testified that he did not see Ms. Thomas point (T 915). At that point Mr. Ware's cross and re-direct examination were concluded and the court recessed for the day (T 921-922).

The next morning, January 12, 1996, Appellant's counsel moved for a mistrial relative to what counsel observed during the testimony of Charlie Ware, alluded to previously (T 925-927). The court denied the Motion for a Mistrial stating that she did not think that "identity is really at issue in this case and I **didn't** see the behavior **you're** complaining of, and I **don't** know whether or not the witness did either." (T 927)

Dr. Michael Smith, a trauma surgeon at St. Mary's Hospital (T 928) testified that he 'had treated both Alvonza Colson and Kim

Brown the morning of January 30, 1995. Mr. Colson had been shot in the left flank with an exit in the right groin. Dr. Smith performed surgery on Mr. Colson who remained in the hospital for approximately a week (T 929-932). Dr. Smith also treated Kim Brown at approximately 9:15 a.m. on January 30, 1995, but he stated that Ms. Brown had no signs of life and he did not attempt to treat her for any of her injuries, merely confirming that she was in cardiac arrest from multiple gunshot wounds and was pronounced dead (T 932-933).

è

2

Clara Wright, the mother of Kim Wright Brown (T 936), testified that Kim Brown on January 30, 1995, was seeing Leroy Pooler and that she "had a new friend" who she had been seeing for about a week or two (T 942-943). Ms. Wright testified that prior to January 30, 1995, her daughter, Kim, had stopped seeing the Appellant (T 943). Ms. Wright further testified that on January 30, 1995, the Appellant did not have her consent to enter her home but that he "just came, popped up." (T 944)

Dr. James Benz, District Medical Examiner of Palm Beach County (T 947) testified that he performed an autopsy on Kim Wright Brown on February 1, 1995 (T 949). Dr. Benz testified that his examination indicated that Ms. Brown had been shot five times (T 949). Dr. Benz testified as to the locations of the various gunshot wounds (T 951-959). He also testified that he had removed from the body a .38 caliber class bullet (T 954). Dr. Benz was unable from his examination to form an opinion as to the position that the body was in for any of the gunshot wounds (T 958-959). Dr. Benz

testified that none of the wounds sustained by Ms. Brown were "immediately fatal" (T 960).

On cross examination Dr. Benz testified that he was unable to determine the distance from which the shots were fired into Ms. Brown (T 962-964) (T 966).

The State called Freddie Jackson as a witness (T 968). Prior to his testimony Appellant's counsel and the Prosecutor approached the bench where Appellant's counsel, Mr. Salnick, informed the court that he was objecting to Mr. Jackson being called as a witness because he (Mr. Salnick) had observed Mr. Jackson sitting in the back of the courtroom during the testimony of Ms. Wright and Dr. Benz (T 968-969). After discussion at the bench and argument by counsel the court determined that she would allow Mr. Jackson to testify (T 968-970). Mr. Salnick moved for a mistrial based upon the court's ruling, (T 971) which Motion was denied by the court (T 971).

Mr. Jackson testified that he had not been in the courtroom during any of the testimony and that he had not heard any of the testimony of witnesses who had come before him (T 973). Counsel once again approached the bench; Mr. Salnick informed the court he would like to either submit an affidavit or put himself under oath and testify regarding Mr. Jackson's presence in the courtroom; the court said it would allow Mr. Salnick to submit an affidavit at a later time and the bench conference concluded (T 975-976).

Mr. Jackson testified that he knew almost all of the residents in or around the apartment complex where Kim Brown had resided, and

that he had known Kim Brown for almost all of her life (T 977-978). Mr. Jackson testified that he last saw Kim Brown behind her apartment running, followed by Appellant (T 978-979). Mr. Jackson identified the Appellant in court (T 979). Mr. Jackson testified that Ms. Brown was wearing night clothes and Appellant told her "I told you I was going to kill you. I told you I was going to kill you. " (T 980) Mr. Jackson then testified that he saw Appellant grab Ms. Brown, hit her in the head with a pistol and "it went After that Mr. Jackson testified he saw Appellant off." (T 981) grab Ms. Brown around the neck trying to force her into a car but she wouldn't get in, during which Appellant allegedly said "Bitch. I told you I was going to kill you, didn't I?" (T 981-982) Subsequently, Mr. Jackson testified that he saw Appellant start to shoot and Ms. Brown "slumped" (T 982-983). Mr. Jackson stated that after Appellant had stopped shooting Ms. Brown, Mr. Pooler "went back to his <u>truck</u> and reloaded." (Emphasis added) (T 983) After that Appellant walked back to his car, (emphasis added) got in the oar and drove away (T 984).

Jack McCall, a crime scene investigator for the West Palm Beach Police Department (T 1004) testified that on January 30, 1995, he was involved in a homicide investigation in the 500 block of 22nd Street in the City of West Palm Beach (T 1005). Mr. McCall prepared a diagram of the area (T 1006) and retrieved from the crime scene area several spent shell casings of .38 caliber (T-1009). A projectile and several articles of clothing were obtained by Mr. McCall at the crime scene (T 1011-1013). Mr. McCall further

testified that he recovered other spent shell casings and projectiles in the area, all from .38 caliber Winchester bullets (T 1018-1021). The record does not indicate that Mr. McCall was able to tie any of the physical evidence to the Appellant.

\$

Mr. McCall did testify that inside of the Kim Brown residence he noticed a telephone whose wire had been "stretched and the end of the cable had been pulled, appeared that it had been pulled out of the wall." (T 1031) Mr. McCall testified that he did not analyze any of the evidence other than the "effort to deal with fingerprints." (T 1035)

The State did not call any other witnesses to testify as to analysis of physical evidence in this case, except for John O'Rourke.

On cross examination Mr. McCall testified that he did not see any indication that the above-described telephone cord had been cut but that it had been stretched and that he (Mr. McCall) was unable to determine when it was stretched (T 1041).

The State next called Sgt. Jerry Chestnut of the West Palm Beach Police Department (T 1050) who testified that his involvement in this case was limited to crowd control and protection of the crime scene (T 1052-1054).

Officer Frank Alonzo of the West Palm Beach Police Department testified that he participated in the homicide investigation of the instant case and that his involvement primarily consisted of standing post by an apartment that was part of the crime scene (T 1055-1056). Officer Alonzo observed a "smashed" pane of window to

the left of the front door (T 1056). Officer Alonzo testified that he reached through the broken window and unlocked the door to see if there were any other possible bodies or injured persons in the apartment (T 1057). Officer Alonzo saw overturned furniture and some shell casings and a live round on the kitchen floor of the residence and at that point he left the apartment (T 1058).

The trial continued on January 16, 1996. John O'Rourke, Forensic Firearms Examiner with the Palm Beach County Sheriff's Office next testified (T 1072). Mr. O'Rourke's testimony was lengthy, consisting of 42 pages of transcript. Most of Mr. O'Rourke's testimony consisted of general firearms facts and forensic firearms procedure. The essence of his testimony in this case was that projectiles and shell casings obtained at the crime scene were of .38 class (T 1094). Mr. O'Rourke testified that the projectiles, shell casings and one live round of ammunition were .380 auto rounds (T 1094-1095). Mr. O'Rourke testified that there were several types of firearms designed and manufactured to discharge the .380 auto cartridge, (T 1095) and that there is a group of ten different manufacturers that make firearms that could have fired the projectiles presented (T 1096). Mr. O'Rourke also studied several items of clothing from the crime scene (T 1099) but he was unable to place a distance from the end of the barrel of the gun to these items of clothing (T 1100). Nowhere in Mr. O'Rourke's testimony was he able to connect any of the forensic evidence in this case to the Appellant.

Fannie M. Rolle testified that she saw a shooting take place

on January 30, 1995 (T 1114). Ms. Rolle testified that she saw a man pulling a lady by the arm off of the porch next door to her residence (T 1115). Ms. Rolle went into her house and dialed 911 and then went back to the door.

Ms. Rolle saw the man try to force the woman into his car, a brown and beige car, and noted that the woman would not get into the car (T 1116-1117).

Ms. Rolle then stated that the woman would not get into the car and the man told her "I told you I was going to kill you", then Ms. Rolle heard a shot and saw the woman fall (T 1117). After that the man pulled the woman, turned her over, pulled her up by the arm and then "unloaded his gun into her head" (T 1117). After that the man went to his car, got in and drove away (T 1118). Ms. Rolle had never seen the man before that day (T 1119).

Ms. Rolle did not identify the Appellant in court as the man she described in her testimony.

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