FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 3 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

LEROY POOLER,

Appellant,

VS.

Case No. 87,771

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409
(407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - The State's comment during jury selection regarding the presumption of innocence was not an incorrect statement of the law. Even if it were improper, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue II - The trial court did not err by failing to instruct the jury on the nonexistent crime of attempted first-degree felony murder as to Count III.

Issue III - The record supports the trial court's finding of the HAC aggravating factor, as there were facts which set this case apart from ordinary premeditated murders by shooting.

Issue IV - This Court has previously held that a contemporaneous crime against another victim can support the "prior violent felony" aggravating factor.

Issue V - Appellant's sentence of death is not disproportionate to other cases under similar facts.

Issue VI - Appellant's own expert denied the applicability of either mental mitigating factor and no other evidence supported the "substantial impairment" mitigator. Thus, the trial court properly rejected it.

Issue VII - There was no evidence to support the "extreme duress or substantial domination" mitigating factor. Therefore, the trial court properly rejected it.

Issue VIII - The record supports the trial court's rejection of a good jail record and a good adaptation to confinement where Appellant had a disciplinary report while awaiting trial for threatening an inmate.

Issue IX - Other evidence, such as Appellant's employment and military history, contradicted evidence of Appellant's low intelligence, which, by itself, is not mitigating in nature.

Issue X - The trial court properly rejected Appellant's capacity for rehabilitation based on Appellant's juvenile history and disciplinary report while awaiting trial.

Issue XI - The trial court considered the domestic nature of this crime in relation to the "extreme mental or emotional disturbance" mitigator. Moreover, as the trial court stated, there were many premeditated aspects to this murder. Thus, the trial court properly rejected the domestic nature of this murder as a separate and distinct mitigating factor.

Issue XII - The trial court properly rejected Appellant's claim that he had adapted well to incarceration based on his disciplinary report for threatening an inmate while awaiting trial.

Issue XIII - Although Appellant could have done so, the State supplemented the record with Appellant's PSI report. Thus, this issue is moot.

Issue XIV - The trial court noted its reason for departure on

the sentencing guidelines scoresheet, signed the scoresheet, and filed it with the clerk on the day of sentencing. Its reason for departure has previously been upheld and is valid in this case.

Issue XV - Appellant's challenges to Florida's death penalty statute have previously been rejected.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE STATE'S COMMENT DURING VOIR DIRE REGARDING APPELLANT'S PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE RENDERED THE TRIAL FUNDAMENTALLY UNFAIR (Restated).

During jury selection, the State questioned the panel about any experiences the jurors had had with the judicial system. Hershman indicated that she was frustrated with the system because the murderer of a close family friend had yet to be executed after 14 years on death row. (T 585-86). During this discussion with the juror, the prosecutor informed Ms. Hershman that, as they speak, Appellant "is presumed to be innocent." (T 586). Hershman responded, "Right." The prosecutor then stated, "That doesn't mean that he is innocent, but you have to presume that." (T 586). Defense counsel objected and asked to approach the bench, but the trial court said, "Let's go ahead." (T 586). Immediately thereafter, the juror said, "I still need evidence." When the prosecutor said, "You can keep that presumption unless and until I prove --," Ms. Hershman interrupted, "I can absolutely keep that but it may be somewhat jaded as far as the criminal justice system." (T 586-87). At that point, the prosecutor asked her if her frustration over that other case would prevent her from being a fair and impartial juror in this case, and she responded, "No."

(T 587).

Within moments, the parties were at the bench discussing cause challenges. (T 587-92). At no point did defense counsel challenge the State's comment to Ms. Hershman, or otherwise object to the court's refusal to allow them to come sidebar earlier. Given counsel's failure to follow up on the objection and request that the comment be stricken and/or that a curative instruction be given, defense counsel waived his objection to this comment. See Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 375-76 & n.8 (Fla. 1994) (quoting Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985) ("'The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from the court that the jury is to disregard the remarks.'").

Even if defense counsel's unpursued, groundless objection was sufficient to preserve this issue for review, his claim that the State's comment rendered his trial fundamentally unfair is wholly without merit. First, the comment was not a misstatement of the law. As the trial court later instructed the jurors who sat on Appellant's case, "[t]he presumption stays with the defendant as to each material allegation in the Indictment, through each stage of the trial, until it has been overcome by the evidence to the exclusion of and beyond a reasonable doubt." (T 772). Thus, as the prosecutor said, a presumption of innocence does not equate to

an absolute fact that Appellant is innocent; rather, it can be overcome by the State. Taken in context, the prosecutor's comment was not a misstatement of the law. Cf. Lucas v. State, 568 So. 2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1990) (finding state's question to venire--whether they believed an intoxicated person should be held accountable--did not mislead jury to believe alcohol and drug use could not be considered as mitigation); Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1985) (finding no error in State's advising jury during voir dire that their sentencing recommendation is merely advisory).

Nor was it the expression of a personal belief in Appellant's guilt, as Appellant now claims on appeal. Brief of Appellant at 28-29. The prosecutor did not say, either expressly or by implication, that he believed Appellant to be guilty. Rather, he attempted to explain that the presumption which initially attached could be overcome by the State. This was not error.

Even if the prosecutor's comment was made erroneously, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As noted, the jury was instructed by the court on the presumption of innocence before any testimony or evidence was presented. (T 772). Moreover, it was instructed that it was the trial court's function to decide what law applies and to explain that law to the jury. (T 768). What the attorneys said was not evidence (nor presumably the law) (T 769), and the jury's function was to decide the facts and to apply

the law, as given by the court, to the facts. (T 768-69). Thus, any inference that the prosecutor may have left with the jury regarding Appellant's guilt or the presumption of innocence was cured by the subsequent jury instructions. Cf. Lucas, 568 So. 2d at 21 (finding that state's comments to venire were not misleading, especially in light of trial court's later instructions); State v. Wilson, 22 Fla. Law Weekly S2 (Fla. Dec. 26, 1996) (finding court's extraneous comments regarding the reasonable doubt standard harmless where standard instruction was given).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS REQUIRED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER--A NONEXISTENT CRIME (Restated).

In Count III of the Indictment, Appellant was charged with the attempted first-degree murder with a firearm of Alvonza Colson. (R 42-43). At the guilt-phase charge conference, no mention was made by anyone regarding an instruction on attempted first degree felony murder. Yet, on appeal, Appellant claims that the trial court should have instructed the jury on this theory of prosecution.

¹ This Court's decision in <u>Gray v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), finding attempted felony murder to be a nonexistent crime, was issued on May 4, 1995--eight months <u>before</u> Appellant's trial. Thus, it should be safe to assume that the parties were aware of this decision and purposely did not consider an instruction in this case on attempted first-degree felony murder.

Appellant claims that it was unfair for the trial court to base his death sentence on the attempted first-degree murder and on his commission of the murder during a burglary, but not instruct the jury on attempted first-degree <u>felony</u> murder in relation to Count III. According to Appellant, had it done so, such an error would have resulted in the demise of his attempted first-degree murder conviction and these two aggravating factors.

Though creative, Appellant's argument is wholly without merit. First, Appellant was charged with attempted first-degree murder and instructed on that offense. The instruction given was proper, and Appellant has failed to show otherwise. He is certainly not entitled to an instruction on a nonexistent crime. See Gray v. State, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995). Second, the record supports the attempted first-degree murder conviction under a premeditated murder theory, since Appellant went to the apartment to kill Kim Brown and shot Alvonza Colson in the back as Alvonza attempted to flee the apartment. At the time he shot Alvonza, Appellant had yet to commit the burglary.

As for the "prior violent felony" and "felony murder" aggravating factors, these are fully supported by the record and have no bearing on Appellant's conviction for attempted first-degree murder. After all, Appellant need not even be convicted of an enumerated felony for the "felony murder" aggravating factor to

apply. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 906 (Fla. 1990). And, as already noted, Appellant's conviction for the contemporaneous violent felony was sufficiently proven under a premeditated murder theory. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THE "HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL" AGGRAVATING FACTOR (Restated).

In its written sentencing order, the trial court made the following findings of fact regarding the "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravating factor:

before the murder, week Defendant told Carolyn Glass that he was going to kill the victim. The victim was told of this threat approximately two days before the The victim watched the Defendant break into her apartment and shoot her younger The victim vomited into her own hands and begged for her life and that of her brother by agreeing to leave with Defendant, vivid evidence of the anguish the victim was suffering. After the victim gained temporary safety by a ruse, the Defendant began to break into her apartment Her brother told Kim Wright Brown: "Run for your life." She did but was caught by the Defendant. He hit her in the head with his handgun and began dragging her to his car. She continued to beg for her life. Defendant told her: "Bitch, didn't I tell you I would kill you." The struggling victim cried: "No, no, no!" The Defendant then shot the victim five times, stopping during the shooting to say, "You want some more." This

testimony shows the victim was acutely aware of her impending death and suffered terribly in consequence. Wyatt v. state, 641 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1994); Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994); Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992); Farinas v. State, 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990). This aggravating factor to have been proven beyond any reasonable doubt [sic].

(R729-30).

In this appeal, Appellant claims that the record does not support this aggravating factor because there was nothing which set this case apart from the norm of premeditated murders. State is mindful that this Court has found that ordinary shootings are not, as a matter of law, heinous, atrocious, or cruel, this was not an ordinary shooting. For two days, Kim Brown lived with the knowledge that Appellant had an intention to kill her. (T 1131). On the day of her murder, Appellant appeared at her door, wanting to see her. Her brother opened the door and told Appellant to go away, but Appellant pulled a gun and shot her brother in the back as her brother tried to escape. (T 794-95). Appellant pulled her brother back into the apartment and said, "Nigger, don't make me shoot you again." (T 795). Watching all of this, Kim Brown begged Appellant, "Please, Leroy, please don't kill me and my brother. My brother is sick." (T 796). Appellant callously responded, "So, I'm going to jail anyway." (T 796). The victim begged him again not to kill her and then vomited into her hands. (T 796).

she suggested they take her brother to the hospital, Appellant agreed and headed toward the door. He changed his mind, however, and told Alvonza to stay and call an ambulance, while he ordered Kim to go with him. (T 796-97). When Appellant stepped outside the door, Kim Brown and her brother slammed and locked the door, thinking they were going to be alright. Appellant, however, broke the glass by the front door and was reaching in to unlock the door when Kim and her brother fled out the back door. (T 797).

Alvonza hid behind a wall of the next-door-neighbor's back Kim ran to the next building, screaming for help. Appellant came out of Kim and Alvonza's back door and approached Alvonza with the qun, but left to find Kim, who was hollering, "Help, help Don't kill my brother. He done kill my brother." (T 798-99). Appellant found Kim and struck her upside the head, causing his gun to discharge. (T 910, 981). As he was pulling her towards his car, she was screaming, "No. No." and "Lord, please don't kill me." (T 909, 1116). Several people heard him say something to the effect of, "Bitch, didn't I tell you I [sic] kill you." (T 842, 980, 1116). When she refused to go with him, he shot her several times. Then he stopped and said, "You want some more?" and shot her several more times. According to one witness, Appellant kicked her before walking to his car and driving off. (T 799, 842, 881-83, 910, 981-84, 1116-18).

In assessing the applicability of the HAC factor, this Court has repeatedly considered the state of mind of the victims, and their awareness of their impending death. E.g., Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1994) ("This Court has repeatedly upheld the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor in circumstances where the victim suffers such mental anguish."); Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 409-10 (Fla. 1992) ("Fear and emotional strain may be considered as contributing to the heinous nature of the murder, even where the victim's death was almost instantaneous."). In all of the cases cited to by Appellant, the victim was either unaware of his or her impending death or had no time to consider his or her impending death because the death was instantaneous or nearly so. For example, in Simmons v. State, 419 So. 2d 316, 318-19 (Fla. 1982), this Court stated, "There was no proof that the victim was aware that he was going to be struck with a hatchet" or that he was "subjected to repeated blows while living." In <u>Herzog v. State</u>, 439 So. 2d 1372, 1380 (Fla. 1983), this Court found that the victim was under the influence of methaqualone and was at least semiconscious, if not unconscious, "during the whole incident." In Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 868 (Fla. 1987), this Court stated, "Although fully premeditated, the murders were carried out quickly by shooting." In Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1238 (Fla. 1990), this Court found that

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